Albemarle County Planning Commission DRAFT Minutes September 14, 2021

The Albemarle County Planning Commission held a public hearing on Tuesday, September 14, 2021 at 6:00 p.m.

Members attending were Julian Bivins, Chair; Karen Firehock, Vice-Chair; Rick Randolph; Daniel Bailey; Corey Clayborne; Jennie More; Tim Keller; and Luis Carrazana, UVA representative.

Members absent: none.

Other officials present were Andy Reitelbach; Charles Rapp, Director of Planning; Andy Herrick, County Attorney's Office; Rachel Falkenstein; Tori Kanellopoulos; and Carolyn Shaffer, Clerk to the Planning Commission.

Call to Order and Establish Quorum

Mr. Bivins said the meeting was being held pursuant to and in compliance with Ordinance No. 20-A(16), "An Ordinance to Ensure the Continuity of Government During the COVID-19 Disaster." He said opportunities for the public to access and participate in the electronic meeting will be posted at www.albemarle.org on the Community County Calendar when available.

After Ms. Shaffer called the roll, Mr. Bivins established a quorum.

Mr. Bivins asked if "COVID-19" should be called something else since we have gone beyond 19.

Mr. Herrick responded that the official name is still "COVID-19."

Other Matters Not Listed on the Agenda from the Public

There were none.

Consent Agenda

Mr. Keller moved to approve the consent agenda.

Mr. Clayborne seconded the motion, which passed 7-0.

Public Hearings

SP202100001 Crozet Master Plan Update

Ms. Rachel Falkenstein stated that she is joined by Tori Kanellopoulos to present the update and receive the Planning Commission's recommendation on the draft master plan, as well as to receive public comment through the public hearing. Ms. Falkenstein said that their agenda includes a quick overview of the planning process to develop the master plan, an overview of the plan content, and the Commission discussion.

Ms. Falkenstein said they have organized the planning process into four phases. She said that phase one began in September 2019, with a series of in-person public workshops with discussion

focused around a vision for Crozet; at the completion of that phase, they had updated guiding principles for the master plan document. She stated that phase two began the discussion of focus areas where the county received input on goals and draft strategies to address the identified guiding principles from the first phase, and this shifted from in-person gatherings to virtual meetings; they began hosting master planning meetings during the virtual CAC meetings and relied heavily on online engagement through publicinput.com, the county's engagement hub.

Ms. Falkenstein said that in phase three, they began to refine goals from phase two and develop draft maps and plans from each of the chapters, such as trails maps, land use maps, and the future streets network; they also drafted written recommendations to support the guiding principles and goals. She stated that they are in phase four of the planning process now, and this involves developing draft chapters based on previous input, as well as a focus on implementation where they brought all recommendations together and received feedback on which the community prioritizes.

Ms. Falkenstein said she would clarify how they use community feedback throughout the process, as staff has received feedback that how they've used input has not been clear and has led to some confusion, misunderstanding, and frustration—especially for community members who have participated in the planning process but do not feel their opinions are fully represented in the draft. She presented a diagram of their feedback loop and how they outlined using community input and conducting engagement on this project. She said that she would describe it as an iterative process in which they solicited feedback from members of the community, stakeholders, partners, and elected and appointed officials, then compiling the feedback and making recommendations. She said they would then bring the recommendation back out and listen to more input, then aggregating that feedback and continuing the loop.

Ms. Falkenstein presented a list of Commission and Board meetings, noting that the process was designed to be heavy toward the end of the process so they could share the feedback received. She stated that the final decision and plan adoption ultimately lies in the Board of Supervisors' hands, with the Planning Commission recommendation based on content developed by staff.

She shared some recent feedback, stating that they had a July 14 draft of the document that went to the Board, with the draft before the Commission last revised on August 20; the changes between those two drafts are fairly minor and are mostly clean-up and finalization changes. She stated that the current master plan draft has been online since August 25, with several hundred views of the project page since that time but very few people participating in the online questionnaire or leaving comments. She noted that they had 20 participants, and 17 people left comments; those who participated online gave low markings on how well the draft content met the guiding principles. She noted that they have also had email comments received from the community, and an August 11 CAC meeting in which they discussed some aspects of the document.

Ms. Falkenstein shared some themes from the feedback as summarized, including accessibility for walkers and bikers, especially along Route 250 and around schools. She said there has been concern expressed about the relationship between housing and employment in Crozet, and there is a statistic in the plan that indicates less than 6% of commuters live and work in Crozet. She stated that they have also heard feedback about the engagement process, including some criticism of how it was conducted, as well as commentary that staff has not listened to community or CAC feedback. She noted that a more recent change, which happened in May 2021, was a change to the land use map based on Board of Supervisor's feedback. She explained that the

change was to properties along Tabor Street, where they applied Middle Density Residential land use designation, and feedback received indicated that the change was made too late in the process and was something they should consider with their next update. She said that there were also concerns about traffic and school capacity with increased growth.

Ms. Falkenstein stated that many of the themes have been heard throughout the master planning process, and she said that Ms. Kanellopoulos would share some master plan content.

Ms. Tori Kanellopoulos stated that she would provide an overview of the master plan document, including the main changes since the 2010 plan and a brief summary from the Board's August work session. She said that the Transportation, Land Use, and Conservation chapters each begin with the overview and background for those topics, including challenges and opportunities; each chapter also includes more detailed narrative, recommendations, and maps and plans that support the recommended projects and policies within the chapter. She said that each chapter ends with the guiding principle for that topic and the goals and supporting projects. She noted that the Implementation chapter brings those recommendations in the three chapters all together, with the recommended projects, plans, and policies.

Ms. Kanellopoulos stated that the Introduction chapter includes a brief summary on community engagement and drafting this plan, with more details found in the appendix, and it has the guiding principles for each chapter; historic context, including history of people, development, industries, and schools in Crozet; data and demographics, including more data on recent growth; and key challenges and opportunities, which highlight some of the major themes included in the subsequent plan chapters.

Ms. Kanellopoulos said that the Transportation chapter includes the future bike and pedestrian network for connecting neighborhood centers and districts; the future street network, including planned future connections such as Eastern Avenue; and potential smaller connections where local streets nearly connect today and may be able to fully connect in the future. She said this chapter also includes street typologies, which provide recommendations for the designs of streets to accommodate capacity for pedestrians, bicyclists, and drivers; and proposed intersection improvements, which are focused on the downtown and Route 250 areas, based primarily on the EPR transportation analysis; and opportunities for future transit improvements and recommendations from the downtown parking study, conducted by Kimley Horn.

Ms. Kanellopoulos said the Land Use chapter has the future land use plan, which also includes centers and districts, as well as land use categories applied to the plan—included recommended uses, densities, building form and massing, and prioritized design principles for each category. She said the appendix also includes more detailed guidance for the Middle Density Residential category, specific guidance for centers and districts—with focus on the Downtown Center, as it is the only town center in an area of significant importance for community members. She said there is a section on housing choice in Crozet, urging more options for designs that also are compatible with existing scale and smaller and more affordable unit types. She stated that there is a section on other areas in Crozet—those not designated centers or districts but still areas of importance based on community feedback, such as rural edges.

Ms. Kanellopoulos reported that the conservation chapter includes the parks and green systems plan, with connections between recreational areas, schools, neighborhoods, and centers, as well as areas with sensitive environmental features to preserve. She said that it includes major parks and trails and supporting recommendations and improvements, recommendations for other

county-owned properties that are not major parks and schools, such as the county-owned stormwater wetlands on Crozet Avenue. She stated that the biodiversity, natural Resources, and green systems sections include water quality, stormwater management, steep slopes, and tree canopy. She said there are also cultural and scenic resources with opportunities for continued and expanded heritage and cultural tourism, as well as connections to the nearby rural area, national park, and other regional amenities.

Ms. Kanellopoulos stated that Implementation starts with an overview of the types of projects, how they are categorized and prioritized, and some options for funding. She said there are catalyst projects that reflect community priorities and are expected to be completed or have substantial projects within 10 years; future projects are those expected to be completed within 10-20 years. She noted that each catalyst and future project has a description, cost estimate with a range, and realization timeframe; these projects are based on recommendations from the Transportation, Land Use, and Conservation chapters. She added that there is also a list of ongoing projects at the end of the chapter that are expected to happen with development or redevelopment, or just to occur with regular ongoing county programs and maintenance.

Ms. Kanellopoulos stated that the appendix includes a glossary of terms found throughout the plan and a more detailed summary of community engagement, continued from the Intro chapter. She said that it includes engagement opportunities and the feedback curve within each phase, and there's additional guidance on Middle Density Residential, included recommended heights, building footprints, and unit sizes by housing type. She noted that there is also the full Downtown Crozet parking study and the EPR transportation study.

Ms. Kanellopoulos presented the summary of changes from the 2010 master plan, with the majority of changes intended to bring the plan into greater consistency with other county master plans and existing zoning—especially for the future land use plan. She cited an example in that many of the green systems designations made were intended to align with by-right development potential per existing zoning districts and better align with updated environmental features mapping such as steep slopes and stream buffers, and other green systems that increase development potential were noted separately during the review process, such as White Gate Farm.

Ms. Kanellopoulos stated that the overall growth projections remain very similar compared to the 2010 plan based on the future land use designations; the estimated increase in units is approximately 100-500 units based on the updated future land use plan. She stated that the ultimate buildout would depend on what was submitted through the application process. She said that the changes reflect engagement themes heard throughout the process, including scale and form of growth, and focusing on downtown as the main hub of activity.

Ms. Kanellopoulos presented a slide showing a comparison of the 2010 future land use plan and the updated 2021 plan, with a green network still retained throughout Crozet but more clarity between areas designated for public access, shown in the darker green color; other areas with sensitive environmental features like steep slopes and stream buffers, which should be preserved or private open space, are shown in lighter green. She said there are still centers of activity included, but instead of just being text in the plan, they are applied specifically to the draft future land use plan.

Ms. Kanellopoulos reported that there is a new neighborhood service center in Wickham Pond, which was not included in 2010, and this is intended to align with the future mixed-use

development approved for that neighborhood with the rezoning for Wickham Pond, and also with recommended bike and pedestrian connections in that area. She noted that the 2010 master plan included downtown, Music Today, Old Trail, Western Park, and Clover Lawn as centers of activity. She said the updated mixed-use land use categories are intended to align with other recently updated master plans and with existing development potential, especially for Old Trail Village, such as the community mixed-use designation.

Ms. Kanellopoulos stated that staff wanted to review the Middle Density Residential land use category in more detail since there has been significant community feedback around this topic, as well as several discussions on the part of the Board and Commission. She said the 2010 Crozet Master Plan includes Urban Density Residential as a land use category, with a recommended density range of 6-12 units per acre and recommendation for all types of housing—including single-family detached, attached, and apartments. She said that it also recommends non-residential uses of 5,000-20,000 square feet where appropriate, and she noted that the other county master plans have Urban Density Residential at 6-34 units per acre.

Ms. Kanellopoulos said that the new Middle Density Residential land use category is intended to encourage a variety of housing types, including smaller housing units that are naturally more affordable, and to promote housing choice and affordability. She said that MDR recommends density ranges of 6-12 units per acre, with up to 18 units per acre to allow for additional affordable units beyond baseline requirements, or for construction of small-scale housing types such as bungalow courts, small and medium multiplexes, and live-work units. She stated that it recommends commercial, or retail uses up to 5,000 square feet for the building footprint and office or institutional uses up to 20,000 square feet. She noted that the recommended densities, housing types, and form and scale guidance would be evaluated with any rezoning application, and the MDR future land use designation does not change the zoning districts of any properties where it is applied but would be used for guidance of evaluation of any applications that are requesting to change the zoning of these properties.

Ms. Kanellopoulos presented a slide with maps showing UDR applied to the 2010 future land use plan and MDR applied to the updated future land use plan. She said that MDR replaced the previous urban density residential areas in Crozet, with the exception of blocks 20 and 21 in Old Trail where the Summit Apartments are located. She noted that MDR was also newly applied to the undeveloped White Gate Farm property along Route 240 adjacent to Wickham Pond, and this was previously designated as entirely green space. She said it was also applied to the View properties, as these were already developed, and to the block bounded by Tabor Street, Crozet Avenue, High Street, and Dunvegan Lane—which was previously designated NDR.

Ms. Kanellopoulos reported that the Board provided feedback during their August 4 work session on the full draft of the master plan, and there was support for the majority of the Planning Commission's recommended changes to the Implementation chapter, including shifting some future projects to catalyst projects and vice versa. She said the Board recommended keeping affordable and workforce housing priority review as a catalyst project and recommended that the previous Tabor block as mentioned be discussed during the public hearing process regarding is MDR future land use designation, and the Board directed staff to keep the same future land use plan that it saw on August 4 for the public hearing process, with the Tabor block to be further discussed.

Ms. Kanellopoulos stated that the next step in the process is a public hearing with the Board on October 20 for adoption of the plan. She said that staff has several motions for the Commission's

consideration but would pause here for discussion and questions.

Ms. Firehock stated that this is an outstanding plan that raises the bar for master plans and small area plans for the county, and she recognized staff and the community for their work. She said that in reading this, she noticed that staff had taken prior comments from the Commission and community and incorporated those. She added that she also appreciated that they took time to discuss the community engagement process.

Ms. Firehock said that staff had raised a point about the Commission wanting to discuss the Tabor Street, Crozet Avenue, High Street, and Dunvegan Lane block designated for MDR downtown. She stated that some of the concern for that area is that there are some potential historic structures on those sites, and the county currently does not have an historic preservation ordinance—so if that block were developed, there would be no protection for those structures. She expressed her dismay that the county does not have such an ordinance, adding that she is hesitant to move forward with MDR in that block without any kind of historic preservation in place.

Ms. Firehock stated that when she was a Planning Commission member in Charlottesville, she presided over five new historic districts being created and is a big proponent of them. She explained that one thing they did for some lower-income neighborhoods was to create an historic conservation district, which is "historic preservation lite" that says you cannot tear down a structure but might be able to put in non-historic windows or a less expensive roof—but the structure itself remained intact. She said that she was proposing that they not move forward with MDR in this location within Crozet at this time, until there is an historic preservation ordinance in place.

Ms. Firehock commented that while it may not be politically palatable to some, the county hears repeatedly from constituents who are upset because certain historic structures have come down. She said that to maintain the character of Crozet, she would like to see an ordinance in place before they move forward with MDR in that block. She added that in general, she likes MDR and knows they need more density in Crozet to make the downtown work.

Mr. Bailey said that the maps throughout the document denote Claudius Crozet Park as "public land," but when he reads the definition of that in the future land use typologies, it is "existing and proposed publicly owned parks and greenway systems." He asked if the park was publicly owned or privately owned and how it should be designated, including whether that might be "public access" versus public land.

Ms. Falkenstein responded that the county has received that comment online, and staff has noted that for the next time this goes before the Board—but the intent is "publicly accessible" or those open to public use versus publicly owned, specifically.

Ms. More stated that she did have comments and wasn't sure what Mr. Bivins' intent was in having her speak before the public hearing.

Mr. Bivins responded that his intent was to have her set the tone and be the voice to share what needed to be said first.

Ms. More said that she has received this question from several community members and hasn't yet been able to answer it properly. She explained that because MDR is a new land use designation, the question has been whether it is a new countywide designation by default or

whether they would take a separate vote on the inclusion of it in the plan.

Mr. Herrick explained that the master plan is developed as part of the comprehensive plan, and the comp plan review is a bit further out on the horizon at this point. He said if the Crozet Master Plan were to designate something that did not currently exist in the countywide comp plan, that's okay because it may be something that the Board considers when it's looking at the full comp plan in the next several years.

Ms. More responded that her understanding was that it would be a new land use designation that was beneficial in other areas as well, and she wanted to be able to answer that process question.

Ms. More mentioned that for 2A of implementation, the downtown neighborhood architectural and cultural resource study, she wondered if that was where they were leaving space for the potential to visit the downtown neighborhood overlay—which was an idea raised but may have been too complex at this point, while they're all struggling to meet virtually. She asked if it was still valid and whether it may come out of that resource study.

Ms. Falkenstein replied that a lot of the feedback heard was for more design controls and specifics for density, form, and other features that weren't ready to be included in the master plan. She said that a more likely outcome would be to go straight to zoning changes, with changes there that could be done to implement changes pursuant to outcomes from the study—rather than going back to the master plan. She stated that if they identify changes that are needed for the master plan for consistency, they can go back and do those too, but most likely there would be a zoning step or a design guidelines document for those neighborhoods.

Ms. More stated that this process has been challenging, and she understands that not everyone is satisfied with the final draft. She said that she wanted community members to know that she has listened to all the discussions, read all survey responses, and read all emails that have been sent regarding the Crozet Master Plan review. She commented that she believes that there is an opportunity for the county to examine how this process has gone and identify changes that can help facilitate future community engagement efforts, as well as possible tools to manage community expectations. She said there are several examples of things that could have been done differently, and she has been giving that input along the way and would share these thoughts at a later time if the county wanted them.

Ms. More thanked staff for all the work they've done and recognized that they were able to shift very quickly to an online format so the process could continue. She stated that there are many laudable elements to the plan, and she is very impressed with the layout and the content of the overall plan. She said that in this process, there were two concepts that emerged: MDR land use designation and the downtown neighborhood overlay, the latter of which didn't make it into the final draft but in her opinion still has a lot of potential. She noted that this was a great example of staff responding to community concerns about how infill will occur in the older neighborhoods that surround the Downtown Crozet area.

Ms. More stated that on page 25 in the Land Use chapter, the Tabor Street/Crozet Avenue MDR is identified and explained; this area was originally included in the proposed downtown neighborhood overlay. She said that late in the process, the future land use designation was changed from what it currently was—with the potential from 3-6 dwelling units per acre—to MDR, which can go up to 18. She pointed out that she does not support this change, and she explained that originally, this area was included in the overlay that was contemplated on how it might offer

some protection. She said that this area should be removed from the chapter and set aside for more discussion after they are able to have the downtown architectural and cultural resource study completed, at which time they will hopefully revisit the overlay concept.

Ms. More stated that she does understand this is a future land use designation and something that could happen in the future—and likely with this area it would be the distant future—but from a process and planning perspective, this area needs closer attention and should not be included in this plan. She said that she would like to revisit this at a different time, and she looks forward to hearing what others have to say on this and other issues.

Mr. Clayborne stated that when they last discussed this, they talked about broadband reliability and expansion, and he wondered if it made it in or if he had overlooked it.

Ms. Falkenstein responded that it did not make it in there after the Commission's last discussion, and they had a public meeting with the broadband director and some of his team to talk about what would be appropriate to include in the Crozet Master Plan. She said that they recommended not including anything at this time and that the countywide direction be used instead of something specific for the master plan. She said that the Board has plans to extend broadband throughout the county and felt that keeping it out of this specific master plan was the best approach.

Ms. Bivins asked for clarification that Tabor Street had one type of designation prior to being considered for middle density.

Ms. Kanellopoulos explained that in the 2010 master plan, it is designated as Neighborhood Density Residential, recommending 3-6 dwelling units per acre.

Mr. Bivins opened the public hearing.

Ms. Allie Pesch stated that she resides at 1687 Mint Springs Road and is chair of the Crozet Community Advisory Committee (CCAC). She thanked staff and the Commissioners for their work on this project, noting that she is excited that they are at this point and voicing her support for Ms. More's comments. Ms. Pesch said that it is not the right time to be putting middle density on the Tabor Street property and hopes the Commission will consider removing that at this time. She stated that there are other things that perhaps fellow CCAC members will bring up regarding the order of catalyst and future projects, but overall, she is pleased with it. She expressed her thanks to Ms. Falkenstein and Ms. Kanellopoulos, adding that she was sorry they had to do this during a pandemic.

Mr. Brian Day stated that he resides at 2090 Avalon Way in Emerald Ridge, and he complimented staff for an enormously long and difficult process. Mr. Day said that the one concern he has is that the middle density designation on the Tabor Street block is premature and may be appropriate some time in the future, but not until they've sorted out the traffic problems on Crozet Avenue and figured out whether the county would have an historic preservation ordinance. He added that his read as a member of the CCAC is that the majority of people don't think it's the right place for it. Mr. Day said that if downtown goes and they need expansion space 10 or more years out, that could be a serious consideration, but middle density on that property right now is premature and not sustainable.

Mr. Joe Fore of 1044 Amber Ridge Road stated that he is vice chair of the CCAC but tonight is just speaking for himself. Mr. Fore said that the plan represents two years of hard work between

the community and county staff, and overall, it is a reasonable and pragmatic compromise that balances the concerns about growth that Crozet residents have with the county's growth priorities. He stated that it is a thorough and thoughtful document and urged the Planning Commission to accept it.

Mr. Fore suggested that the plan move all three phases of Western Park to catalyst status, and he said that as a community of nearly 10,000, Crozet currently lacks sufficient public play spaces and sports fields for the many families and children who live here. He said the 2010 Crozet Master Plan listed Western Park as a "focal point" for western Crozet—but it's 11 years later, the park is still not built, and the current draft only lists phase one as a catalyst project, with phases two and three relegated to future park status, which means another 10-20 years away from completion. He said that if staff doesn't think that moving all the phases up is feasible, then he would suggest that phase two be moved to a catalyst project and phase three be reserved for future time periods.

Mr. Fore stated that he would echo the comments others have made about the Crozet Avenue block, adding that the properties are good candidates for eventual higher density development, and he supported that idea when these came before the Crozet Community Advisory Committee. He said that staff did a good job developing a respectful plan that allowed for increased density but respected the historic homes and the tree canopy—but as a matter of process, this is not the right time and came up too late, with feedback from the Board but not enough time for public input.

Mr. Fore commented that this late addition raised or confirmed for some Crozet residents doubts about how much the county was valuing their process. He said that as a practical matter, landowners have lived on these properties for generations and have made clear that they have no intention of selling. He stated that this was generating some animosity in the community with no real tangible benefit, but he did feel these properties were good candidates for future designation, so he urged that the plan still retain and mention the issue so it can be revisited in the next master planning process.

Ms. Valerie Long stated that she resides at 6617 Welbourn Lane in Crozet and wants to support the plan and the staff, echoing the comments about their perseverance and patience with this process. Ms. Long said that she concurs with Mr. Fore about moving the Western Park second phase implementation into the catalyst category. She noted that when she worked on the zoning for Old Trail in 2004 and 2005, the land was dedicated early, and the money was designated for the park plan—but they are now on the second park master plan and still have zero infrastructure in place. She said that at the time, she had one child and was pregnant with her second, who now is 16 years old. Ms. Long stated that the park is intended to serve western Crozet and they need the amenities there, so this is long overdue.

Ms. Long stated that she believes the Tabor Street block is a good location for middle density for all the reasons staff identified, but it is a practical challenge given that the landowners have stated strongly that they will not be redeveloping. She said that her concern is that there needs to be somewhere else for this, and the reason it was so late in the game is because the CCAC and others rejected other locations for which staff had proposed MDR. She stated that when the Board provided feedback and directed them to find somewhere else to put some, they came up with a good location—but if the landowners are not going to pursue development anytime soon, her concern is that this is all for nothing, and there are other locations that should be considered. She said that the traffic issues are worth addressing, but if the goal is for pedestrian-oriented development and residences where people can walk to downtown and access amenities, that's a good location. Ms. Long suggested looking back at some of the other proposals that staff had

brought forward early on.

There being no further public comment, Mr. Bivins closed the public hearing and brought the matter back before the Commission.

Mr. Randolph stated that the hour was late, and he would like to suggest that they omit the Crozet Avenue/Tabor Street block from the master plan and not put a land use designation on those blocks. He said that secondly, they should recommend to the Board that they investigate a small area plan that considers the historic nature of the homes and the opposition of the landowners, providing the opportunity for a focused study that includes other community members, staff, a Commissioner, and a Board member. He said that this small area plan would explore the highest and best use for these homes, and after that is done, let the chips fall where they may—but he doesn't want to see a single block in Crozet in a discussion about land use become an obstacle to agreement on this outstanding master plan. He commented that he thought the work on the Pantops Master Plan two years ago was excellent, and this has gone even beyond that.

Mr. Randolph said that regarding the park, that is an issue of the CIP and budget and what dollars are available, and he is not comfortable with the Commission making recommendations about the order of phases and how money will be reallocated. He said that he is comfortable with whatever is in the master plan to date and what the catalyst projects are to date.

Mr. Bivins asked Mr. Randolph if he were trying to move for an amendment to the resolution.

Mr. Randolph responded that he realized there would be continued discussion about it, and he was trying to provide a focus for agreement. He noted that he started out 10 years ago on the Historic Preservation Committee, and they still to date have no historic ordinance for the county. He said that what they need to do is look very carefully at what would be most workable on Crozet Avenue and Tabor Street, and that would be a small area plan.

Ms. More asked for clarification as to whether he meant that very specific block of properties.

Mr. Randolph confirmed that this is what he meant.

Ms. More said that historic preservation is a much larger matter, but what she was seeing in the implementation was a study of the downtown resources and the historic piece to that, which was a larger study identified the overlay that shares much in common with the Tabor block—which was originally included in that. She said that while Tabor is a property on which this could make sense, a lot of other neighborhoods share those same qualities. Ms. More asked if he felt what staff was suggesting in 2A would be sufficient, or whether he was being specific about the one area.

Mr. Randolph responded that he was speaking specifically about just that one area.

Ms. More stated that she had wanted to wait on that one area but wanted to make a clarification in that when there was pushback on the missing middle, none of it was taken away—despite a comment made in that regard as though something was removed, then staff put this in. She said that to her knowledge, none of the missing middle where it was originally proposed was actually taken away, but staff was directed by the Board to come back with more, and that's when they brought this forward. She added that she appreciated Mr. Randolph's angle in focusing on something smaller, so it can be accomplished without a long timeframe.

Mr. Bivins asked if there were agreement to remove the Tabor Street block from the plan.

Commissioners indicated their unanimous agreement.

Mr. Bivins confirmed that one recommendation would be removing the Tabor Street block Middle Density Residential from the Crozet Master Plan. He asked for Mr. Herrick to help clarify the other piece.

Mr. Herrick stated that when Ms. Kanellopoulos was presenting, she had three suggested motions—the first of which was approval of the plan as presented; the second was approval of the plan as amended, which sounded like what the Commission was intending. He stated that his concern is to be specific about what was being amended from the plan that was recommended by staff, and he was concerned about an area of land going forward with no designation.

Mr. Bivins responded that they were suggesting that the designation would remain as it is.

Ms. More said it has a future land use designation of 3-6 dwelling units per acre.

Staff clarified that it was Neighborhood Density Residential.

Mr. Bivins stated that they were not stripping it of that, and the general consensus is just not moving it up to middle density.

Mr. Herrick said if that's the consensus of the Commission, he would suggest approving the resolution with certain modifications, one of which is that the specified area of land be preserved as Neighborhood Density Residential.

Mr. Bivins stated that the other matter that Mr. Randolph was putting before them was to try to advance the examination of the Downtown District, and he asked staff if the block in question flowed into that area anyway.

Ms. Falkenstein responded that there is a recommendation for a downtown neighborhoods architectural and cultural resources study, which is on Page 16 of the Implementation chapter, and that has been moved to a catalyst project. She confirmed that it would include the Tabor Street block property in question but is not a small area planning effort and is more of an information gathering.

Ms. More said that her point was that she would favor the approach that already exists in the plan, which would allow them to further assess all of the properties that share a lot of the same characteristics—looking at that in a bigger way, rather than beginning a new thing that could get them bogged down. She stated that what the Board would hear from the Commission is that it's listed as a catalyst with some other great things, and it could move forward as a priority. She added that a lot of the Crozet neighborhoods are at risk of infill, so this project is important to push forward anyway and would include the Tabor Street property.

Mr. Bivins asked Mr. Randolph if he agreed with that approach.

Mr. Randolph responded that it certainly satisfies the objective.

Ms. More commented that she agrees with Mr. Randolph regarding the park and phases, but she is reluctant to open that up, as she may want to rearrange many pieces and would be comfortable just bringing their commentary to the Board, so they are aware.

Mr. Keller applauded staff for the plan and commented that it may be a regional or even state APA project, and he hoped they would consider submission. He said that they have done an amazing job, and many have spoken to that. He stated that he feels strongly that they need to examine these areas and was intrigued with Mr. Randolph's approach to it, but he also understands Ms. More's point and does think that it is more than just that one area. Mr. Keller said that there are several blocks with historic resources, and they have seen from the work staff has done that exploring some prototypes, such as those in the Twin Cities and Portland, that they can raise density without losing the historic character of those resources. He added that he is very interested in proceeding with this the way it is outlined.

Mr. Carrazana asked Ms. Falkenstein for a description of the "catalyst project" as mentioned for the downtown area.

Ms. Falkenstein responded that on Page 16 of the Implementation chapter, the downtown neighborhoods architectural and cultural resources study mentioned intends to do a study of the neighborhoods outlined in a map on that page. She explained that this would be a comprehensive study of the historic resources in all of those neighborhoods, and there was previously one done in 2009 that focused on a smaller area and left out some of the important neighborhoods in this area and in the narrative of Crozet. She said that staff recommends expanding that study, with phase two being implementation and recommendations such as possibly doing an historic overlay ordinance, design guidelines, and other measures that offer historic protections while still offering growth and development.

Mr. Carrazana said that the map shows that it extends into the Tabor neighborhood.

Ms. Falkenstein confirmed this.

Mr. Carrazana applauded the approach of creating a planning effort as a catalyst project out of a master plan, as staff seems to be acknowledging that more information is needed here—and he hoped that traffic would also be a part of that, as development of downtown would bring that along with opportunities. He stated that as they expand into Tabor in the future, it will only mean more traffic, and he hopes that this study will help inform that. He said that Mr. Randolph mentioned CIP budgets in relation to parks, and CIP for VDOT is also going to be critical in terms of how they balance growth and density in Crozet with what VDOT can do in terms of their capital improvements.

Mr. Carrazana stated that UVA has been able to similarly use planning efforts, such as Fontaine, which was a catalyst project that stemmed out of the integrated space plan for the health system. He emphasized that what staff has presented here is a really good approach that acknowledges that the county doesn't have all the information and needs to dive a little deeper.

Ms. More expressed her appreciation for Mr. Carrazana's comments and said that expanding the purview of the study could extend it interminably, but they know that infill is going to happen in these older neighborhoods that have a historic piece—with a lot of small roads that don't meet VDOT standards, have a hodgepodge of sidewalks and no real bike lanes. She stated that the community has hoped for a study that will help them manage the increased density from infill,

because they are working with something older that was never designed to take on that much auto traffic. She said that there were a few residents who had volunteered to inventory some of the neighborhoods to find out where sidewalks existed, and to work with the county to see where right-of-way exists.

Mr. Carrazana stated that Crozet is a challenge from a multi-modal standpoint because of the small size and winding conditions of both the internal and feeder roads, which leads to frustration with residents, and it would go a long way in communicating that the county hears them, if they dive deeper into the traffic issue and work with VDOT on it.

Mr. Bivins suggested that Commissioners dive into the Crozet transportation study included in their packets, as it included an enormous amount of information that was extremely helpful. He said that this has the county pointed in a good direction, and there were a few suggestions related to present conditions that will be helpful in this effort.

Mr. Rapp thanked the Commission for the conversation and the suggestions. He said that there are a lot of people who are eager for the historic and cultural resources study, but the county is about to embark on a comprehensive plan update and a major ordinance update—so there were some capacity issues with those projects that would consume staff's time as well.

Mr. Bivins summarized the Crozet Master Plan update points, stating that they would still have Middle Density Residential designation but not on the Tabor Street block. He asked if there were other comments. He added that he was glad they were having conversations about workforce housing, and he reminded everyone that unless they paid for their house in cash, they benefited from government support in terms of the mortgage interest tax deduction.

Mr. Bivins asked Ms. Kanellopoulos to bring up the proposed resolution language, stating that the second motion reflects what the Commission has discussed.

Ms. More moved to recommend the attached resolution, Attachment 2, to recommend approval of the updated Crozet Master Plan CPA 2021-0001, with the following list of changes:

- Recommend removal from Page 25, Land Use chapter, "Tabor Street/Crozet Avenue Middle Density Residential," and that this specified area of land be kept with its current land use designation of Neighborhood Density Residential.

Mr. Keller seconded the motion.

Mr. Bailey asked if the discussion around the catalyst projects and future projects is at a later date or if it is to be added to any type of change or amendment at this time.

Mr. Bivins responded that if they go forward with the motion as presented, they would not go forward with any change in the catalyst projects.

Mr. Bailey said that he would request a quick check-in on the emails received from the community for phase two to be moved from future projects to catalyst projects.

Ms. More stated that she is happy to make a change, but she thought they were not going to officially weigh in on that change and that their comments and the input from the public would elevate that to the Board of Supervisors, which would have more purview over that within the bigger budget picture.

Mr. Bailey responded that he is comfortable with that and agrees it is something best left to the Board, but it is important to consider for this area, and he confirmed that he is referencing the western park.

The motion passed 7-0.

Committee Reports

There were no reports.

Review of Board of Supervisors Meeting - September 1, 2021

Mr. Rapp reported that the Board met September 1, 2021 and reviewed the same Agricultural/Forestal Districts that the Commission had, and the Board adopted the form-based code for the Rio/29 Small Area Plan, after several years of hard work.

Mr. Bivins congratulated Ms. Falkenstein.

Ms. Falkenstein thanked him and said it was very exciting for their team.

Mr. Rapp stated that there would be a "very engaged" public hearing at the Board of Supervisors meeting the following evening with RST Residences.

Old Business/New Business

There was none.

Items for Follow-Up

There were no items.

Adjournment

At 8:24 p.m., the Commission adjourned to September 28, 2021, Albemarle County Planning Commission meeting, 6:00 p.m. via electronic meeting.

Charles Rapp, Director of Planning

(Recorded and transcribed by Carolyn S. Shaffer, Clerk to Planning Commission & Planning Boards)

Approved by Planning Commission
Date:
Initials: